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NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION JUDaE 1T %ﬁ{,:sgg%
UNITED STA_TES OF AMERICA - ) No. 1 4 CR 5 5 i _
Voo o0 T ) Vlolatlons Title 7, Umted States Code,
' )  Sections. 60(a)(5)(C) and 13(a)(2); Title
"MICHAEL COSCIA - ) 18, United States Code, Section 1348.
COUNTONE  WIAGISTRATE JUDGE COX
(C.qr‘rlquif[y' Fraud)

.. The SPECIAL SEPTEMBERQOM GRAND JURY, qhal;g.es;:' e
1. At times-material to this indictment: |

a. High—ﬁequehcy trading was .a form of automated trading that used
computer algorithms for decision making and the placement of trading orders,iemployed-
technology that was designed to enable the trader to cominunicate with markets as
quickly as possible (usually in times measured in 1/ 1000 of a second, also known as a
“millis’ecoﬁd”); and involved the entry of a high volume of ordérs, quotes, or
cancelations of orders.

b. Futures contracts were traded on contract markets designated
pursuant to the Commodity - Ekchange Act by the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission, the federal agency established by statute to regulate transactions involving
the purchase and sale of futures contracts. The Chicago Mercantile Exchange, the
Chicago Board of Trade, the New York Mercantile Exchange, aﬁd Commodity

Exchange, Inc. were designated contract markets, and were part of the CME Group, Inc.
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c. Defendant MICHAEL COSCIA was registered as a floor trader with
the CFTC beginning in 1988, and he started trading that year.

»d. ‘ COSCIA" was the manager and sule owner of Panther Enérgy
-Trading LLC, ‘which he formed in4‘_2007.___ ) COSCIA cr@a’ued aud irr_l'plemented. Panfhe.f’é .
~ trading strategies, and ma_riaged andvsupel"vised.‘thé ot'hef t1jaders at Panther regard‘ing.t}.x‘e |
execution of his sﬁ‘étegiés. o

e.  Futures contracts were standardized, ~legally binding’ agreements to
buy or sell a 's'pSeciﬁu p?pdub.’u (.)‘rA ﬁnan01a1 1nstrument ih'tﬁe future Thé-buSIe} atid .s'e}"lugf '
of a futures uontract agreed on a price today for a product or financial instrument to be
délivéred or settled in césh on a future date. The minimum price increment at which a
futures contract could trade was ualled a “tick,” and the value of a tick for each contract
was set by the futures exchange. |

f. Traders placed orders in the form of “bids” to buy or “offers” to sell
a futures contract. An order was “filled” or “executed” when a buyer and sellur bought
and sold a particular contract. It was unlawful for traders to bid or offer with the intent
to cancel the bid or offer before execution.

g. CME Group operated a global electronic trading platform called
Globex, which utilized computer servers located in Chicago and Aurora, Illinois.
COSCIA rented servers that were located in Chicago, and used those servers to place

futures contract orders using Globex. CME Group markets offered futures contract



Case: 1:14-cr-00551 Document #: 1 Filed: 10/01/14 Page 3 of 19 PagelD #:3

trading in various commodities, including gold, soybean meal, soybean oil, and
-high-grade lcopper, an@ futures. contracts that reflected changes of the value of the _Eu.ro' :
and British Pound in U.S. dollars. o
| h. . ICE ~Future§ Eﬁrgb@ §vas a ﬁlturés éxchéngc Ibasqd in L__on‘dpi'n..

A Beginning i or‘ 'ar_ou'm_il August 2011'.,~ and continuing until in or -around .
Oétobef 201.1, Iin tﬁe Northern District of Illinofs, Eastern Division, and elsewhei‘é,

" MICHAEL COSCIA,
defendant hetein, péifti&pétéd in ai‘ s;é"heniie'. to .defraud 'c')the.r 'parfiéiﬁéﬁfs in .the CME
Group markets and the ICE Futufes Europe market‘ in connection with a commodity for
-ﬁa‘-cure delivery,I and to obtain by fneans of materiélly false and fraudulent pretenées;
representations, and promises, money and broperty in com.lection‘ with the purchase and
sale of a commodity for future delivery, which scheme is further described below.

3. It was part of the scheme that, in and around August 2011, COSCIA
devised, implemented, and e);ecuted a high-frequency trading strategy in which he
entered large-volume orders that _he intended to immediately cancel before they' could be
filled by “other traders. COSCIA devised this strategy to Vcreate a false impression
regarding the number of contracts available in the market, and to fraudulently induce
other market participants to react to the deceptive market information that he created.
COSCIA’s strategy moved the market in a direction favorable to him, enabling him to

purchase contracts at prices lower than, or sell contracts at prices higher than, the prices
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available in the market before he entered and canceled his large-volume orders.

COSCIA then repeated this strategy in the opposite direction to- 1mmed1ately obtam a

- profit by buymg futures contracts at a lower prrce than he paid for them, or by selhng |
‘contracts at a higher. prlce than he pard for them. As a result of this strategy, 'COSCIA ’

" made appr0x1mately $1,592,867.

| 4. ) It was further part ‘of the scheme that COSCIA designed Computer

programs named Flash Trader and Quote Trader to 1mp1ement ‘his strategy, and instructed-

" a computer programmer. te create the 'programs | COSCIA gave the computer.'

programmer instructions specrfying how COSCIA wanted the programs to operate in

Apartieular market condrtidns.

5. It was further part of the scheme that COSCIA used the Flash Trader and
Quote Trader -programs in 17 different CME Group markets, and in three different
markets on the ICE Futures Europe exchange to execute his fraudulent trading strategy.

6. It was further part of the scheme that COSCIA’s trading programs leoked
for market conditions sueh as price stability, low volume at the best prices, and a narrow
bid-ask spread—that is, the difference between the prices at which prospective purchasers
were willing to buy and prospective purchasers were willing to sell—because his
fraudulent trading strategy worked best under these conditions.

7. It was further part of the scheme that COSCIA’s trading programs

sometimes placed a “ping order” of one contract to test the market and ensure that market
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‘ ¢onditions would allow his fraudulent trading strategy to work well.
- 8. Iti was further part of the scheme that COSCIA desigﬁed his. trading
programs to place a “trade ordér” on one side of the rharket, intendfng thaf the trade order
L --be filled. . ‘COS.CIA profited frém his fraudulc;nf strafggy by ﬁ-ll'i.ng the ‘.‘trac.lg, order.” |
| 9. It was ™ further paﬁ 6f the s.c.heyxlle that COSCIA designed.his programs to_
' piace several la}.fe1;s of ;‘quc;te, }or(iers.’-’. on the other side of the market frbm his trade
01."ders ‘;o pfeélté. the illusion of market .i'nter'esf. 'COSCIA’s quote orders /v've're -either
' _: ofders zto buy Aco'r.xtr'a.é‘ts ata priéé "highér' than tﬁei prevéiiiﬂg offer,.'or_.oi'défs‘ ~t(')fs"_e'1'1
contracts at a price lower than the prevailing bid.. The quote orders Wduld typically _be
the ljargest‘ (;rders in the market within three ticks of the best bid or offer priéé, usually
doubling or tripliﬁg the total quantity of contracts Withiﬁ the best b.idAor offer price.

10. It was further part of the scheme that COSCIA designed his programs to
cancel the éuote orders within a fraction of a second automatically, with'c;ut regard to
market conditions, even if the market moved in a direction favorable to the 'qﬁote_ orders. -
COSCIA programméd the quote orders to cancel quickly and automatically because he
did not intend for the quote orders to bé filled when he entered.them, but instead intended
to trick other traders into reacting to the false price and volume information he created
with his fraudulent and misleading quote orders. COSCIA intended to, and did, mislead
other traders, causing them to react, because his quote orders appeared to represent a

substantial change in the market.
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11. It was further part of the sclleme that COSCIA designed his programs to
cancel all fraudulent and misleading quote orders immediately if any of the quote.orders
were even partially filled laecause he did not intend and did not desire the quote orders to

' be filled when he entered them, and intended to trick other -traders into reacting to; the'
- false price and volunie information created by his- fraudulent orders

12.  After COSCIA ﬁlled h1s trade order through the use of fraudulent and
m1slead1ng quote orders he immediately éntered a second trade order on the other side of
‘the market COSCIA then used mtsleadmg quote orders in the manner descrlbed'ln'
paragraphs 9, 10, and 11, causing the second trade order to be filled. COSCIA made a
. proﬁt on the difference in price between the first and second trade orders.

13. It was further part of the scheme that, as' ohe example, on or about
September 1, 2011, at approximately 4:54 am., COSCIA caused a buy order to be
enteredb in the Euro FX market for 14 contracts at the price of 14288, lower than any offer
in the market.. Approxir_nat’ely'll milliseconds later, COSCIA caused tllree large sell’
orders to be entered: 91 contracts at the price of 14291; 99 contracts at the price of
14290; and 61 contracts at the price of 14289, and market prices fell. Approximately
seven milliseconds later, COSCIA’s buy order was filled.  Approximately six
milliseconds later, COSCIA caused all three of his large sell orders to be canceled.
Approximately five milliseconds after his last large sell order was canceled, COSCIA

caused a sell order to be entered for 14 contracts at the price of 14289, higher than any
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bid on the market. Approximately 22 milliseconds later, COSCIA caused four large buy
orders to be entered: 88 contracts .at the price of 14284; 88 contracts at the price of
14286; 88 contracts at the price of 14287; and 61 contracts at the price of 14288.

Approximately nine mllhseconds later, COSCIA’S sell order was ﬁlled Approx1mately :

‘ ﬁve m1ll1seconds later COSCIA caused all four of hlS large buy orders to be canceled L

By entering large ordersthat he intended to cancel at the time he placed them and caused |
to be canceled before other traders could fill them COSCIA made a proﬁt by buymg 14 -
contracts at 14288 and then sellmg them at 14289 less than one second later |

14. It was further part of the scheme that COSCIA did misrepresent, conceal,
and hide, and cause to be misrepresented, concealed and hidden, the true acts and the

purposes of the acts done in furtherance of the scheme.
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15.‘ | On or about September 1, 2011, at approximately 4:54 a.m., at Aurora, in
- the Northern District of Illinois,»Eastern' Division, and elsewhere, -
'MICHAEL COSCIA,

defendaint herein, knowingly ege_c'uted. .the..scheme hy transmitting 'and‘ caueing to be ;
transmitted to‘a"CM].E‘,- Group' server Euro FX: currency- ﬁ,lt_ures market .orders that - he . .
caused to be progremmed to quickly cancel in order to prevent other market part101pants
' from ﬁlhng them which fraudulently represented the ‘state of the market so he could "~
.purchase 14 contracts at a below—market price and then sell them 1mmed1ately thereafter ~
for a higher price, in order to obtain a proﬁt of approximately $175 i in less than a second;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1348.
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COUNTTWO .
(Commodlty Fraud)

The SPECIAL SEPTEMBER 2014 GRAND IURY further charges
1. Paragraphs 1 through 14 of Count On_e of this indictment are incorporated

‘here.

2. - On or about September 2, 2011, at approx1mately 9 39 a.m., at Aurora n

the Northern District of 1111n01s Eastern DlVlSlon and elsewhere
MICHAEL COSCIA, ..

defendant herein, kﬁowmgly executed the scheme by transmlttmg and. causmg to be
transmitted to a CME Group server gold commodity futures contract orders that he
caused to be programmed to quickly cancel in order to prevent other market participants
from filling them, which fraudulently represented the state of the market, so he could
purchase 28 contracts at a-below-market price and then sell thenr immediately thereafter
for a higher price, in order to obtain a proﬁt of approxirnately $560 in less than a second;

~ In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1348.
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COUNT THREE
(Commodlty Fraud)

The SPECIAL SEPTEMBER 2014 GRAND JURY further charges

'1.‘ Paragraphs 1 through 14 of Count One of this 1ndlctment are mcorporated
here. | |

2 On or about Septeruber 12, 2011 at approxrmately 11: 54 a m., at Aurora in
. the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere o |

MICHAEL COSCLA,

defendant herein, knouvingly executed t_he scheme by transmittrng and causing ro be
transmitted to a CME Group server soybean meal commodity futures contract orders that
he caused to be programmed to quickly cancel in order to prevent ‘other market
participanrs from filling them, which fraudulently represented the state of the market, so
he could purchase 10 contracts at a below-market price and then sell them immediately
thereafter for. a higher price, in order to ohtain a preﬁt of approxirhately $100 in less than
.a second; | }

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1348.

10
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. COUNT FOUR .
(Commodity Fraud)

The SPECIAL SE?TENIBER 2014 GRAND JURY further charges:
1. Paragraphs 1 through 14 of Count One of this indictment are incorporated
-2, .FOn or about .S.ept_e.mbe;r. 13, 201 i, nt Aapp‘r'oxirnatelly: 10.::03" a.in;, at;i&ur(;ra; in. |
the Northern Distr,i.ct_ of Illinois, Eastgi*n Division, an(.i..els.ewher‘é,
- MICHAEL COSCIA, . |

dei"endant herein, knowingly ei(ecuted the scheme by. transmitting and causing. to be
- . transmitted to.a CME Group server soybenn nil cornmodity futures contrant orders that he
caused to be programmed to quickly cancel in order to prevent other market participants
from filling them, which fraudulently represented the state of the market, so he could sell
10 contracts at a above-market price and then purchase them immediately thereafter for a
lower price, in order vto obtain a profit of apprnXimately $60 in less than a second;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1348.

11
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COUNT FIVE
(Commodity Fraud)

* The SPECIAL SEPTEM.BI‘ER. 2014 GRAND JURY fufthef charges:
1.  Paragraphs 1 through 14 éf Count One of this indictmenﬁ are incorporated
"here;. | | | | - |
- c 20 Qn or about S;:pten.lb-ef é3, 201 i, ‘2'1t épbfoxirﬁétély 833 am, ajc A.ur.ora,”i_n'
the Northern D.ist_ri(;t' §f..Illin(;is, Eastern; I.)i_visi.o"n, aﬁd 'e}sewhe.re, |
| .4 MICHAEL COSCIA, el
defendant herein, knowingly execﬁted the vscheme. by transmitting and causing to b'e
- transnﬁtted to a CME Group server Poyinds FX currency futures coﬁtrac‘g orders 't.hat he
caused to be programmed to quickly cancel in order to prevent other market participants
from filling them, which fraudulently represented the state of the market, so he could
purchase 18 ééntracts at a below-market price and then sell them immediately thereafter
for a highér price, in order fo obtain a profit of approiimately $112.50 in less than a
second; |

In Violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1348.

12
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- COUNT SIX
(Commodity Fraud)

" The SPECIAL SEPTEMBER 2014 GRAND JURY further charges:

| 1. ) Paragraphs 1 through 14 of Count One of this indictment are incorporated

. 2; | On ér. ab01.1t September28, 201 1, e}j.[ ‘ai;prlo;x.i:l;ia‘;ély 1126 am, ‘éﬁt Aﬁrora, in B

the Northerﬁ District of Il_lino:is,*. Eastern Division, ,and; e}sewherg; . '

E MICHAEL COS.CIA,

defendant herein, knowingly executed the scheme by _transmittipg an.d. cagsing .fo' ‘pe g

transmitted to a CME Group server highfgrade copper commodity futures contract orders

. that he caused to be programmed to quickly cancel in order to prevent other market

participants from filhng them, which fraudulently represented the state of the market, so

he could sell five contracts at a above-market pﬁce‘ and fhen purchase them immediately

thereafter for a .lower price, in order to obtain a profit of approximatély $62.50 in less
than a second; |

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1348.

13
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COUNT SEVEN
(Spoofing)

" The SPECIAL SEPTEMBER 2014 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. . Paragraph 1 of Count One of this indictment 1s incorpotated here.

| 2.; Oﬁ. or about Sep;[erﬁber 1, 2011, at éppf;)ximafely ~4:'54. am., at Aurdra, in
" the N,drthern Distri(;;[ of Illinc;is, 'E.as:cem D_ivision,iapd e;lséslz's.}hgre?. o
| | MICHAEL COSCIA,
- “defendan t'herein, knowingly engaged intrading, practice;s and qoqduct, on and subject to "
the rules of CME Gfoup markets, that was, was of thé character of, and v;/aé commonly
_known to the trade as, “spoofing,” by causing to be transmitted to a CME Group server
Euro FX currency futures cdntract orders that he intended to cancel before execution, so
he could puréhase 14 confracts at a below-market price and then sell them immediately
thereafter for a .higher price, in order to obtain a profit of approximately $175 in less than
a second; | | |

In violation of Title 7, United States Code, Sections 6¢(a)(5)(C) and 13(a)(2).

14
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COUNT EIGHT
~ (Spoofing)

The SPECIAL SEPTEMBER 2014 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. . Paragraph 1 of Count One of this iridictrhent is iricorporéfed here.

2 | | On or about S‘Z.é.ptembéré; 2'(.)11.', ‘at approximately 9':39 e;.ffl., at Aurora, iﬂ -
the N§Mem District of Iiliﬂois;, .Eas"tern Divis-idx;,: e.lfld.elséw.h.ere,ﬁ K | o

|  MICHAEL COSCIA,

- defendant herein,' knowingly engaged' in trading, pgac;tic,e, and conduct, .pﬁ aﬁd subject,t.o
the fules of CME Group niarkets, that,wa‘s, was of the charécter of, and wais' commc_)ﬁly
known to the trade aé, “sﬁooﬁng,” by causing to be transmitted to a CME Group server .
gold commodity futures contract orders that he intended to cancel before execution, so he
couid purchase 28 contracts at a below-market price and then sell them immediately
thereafter for a higher price, in order to obtain a profit of approximately $560 in less tﬁan
a second;

~ In violation of Title 7, United States Code, Sections 6¢(a)(5)(C) and 13(a)(2).

15
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COUNT NINE
(Spoofing)

The SPECIAL SEPTEMBER 2014 GRAND JURY further charges
1.' Paragraph 1of Count One of thrs indictment is mcorporated here
: 2 On or about September 12 20 11 at approx1mately 11:54 a.fn., at Aurora in”
the- Northerrl Dlstrlct of Illmms Eastern D1v151on and elsewhere I -
| _ MICHAEL COSCIA,
* defendant herein, knowingly engaged in trading, ’_p.ractice, and conduct, on .and subjeet to .‘
the rules of CME Group markets, that was, was of the character ot, and was commorﬂy
knovrn to the trade as, “spoofing,” by causing to be transmitted to a CME 'G_roup server
soybean meal commodity. futures contract orders that he intended to cancel before
. execution, so he could purchase 10 contracts at a below-market price and then sell them
immediatefy thereafter for a higher price, in order to obtain a profit of approximately
$100 in less than a second;

In violation of Title 7, United States Code, Sections 6¢(a)(5)(C) and 13(a)(2). |

16
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COUNT TEN
(Spoofing)

The SPECIAL SEPTEMBER 2014 GRAND JURY further charges:
1. | Paragraph 1 of Count One of this indictment is incorpofated’here. |

| 2. . .' On or zlll-)out"S'f.:I.J'temBei‘ 13,201 1,4a‘£ appfoiimatély 1003 a.m., at Aurora, in

the Northern DiStﬁct of :Illinois-, .Eiastem i)iVisién; a-;r_ldA lee:\a(.ll‘gré? -
o MICHAEL COSCIA,

.defendant herein, knowingly engaged.in trading, practice, and _conduc,;t,’ on and‘s.ubj:eqt .tcl) .
the rules of CME Group markets, that was, was of the character of, and was commonly
known to the trade as, “spoofing,” by causing to be tra.nsmitted; to a CME Group server
soybean 0il commodity futures contract orders that he intended to cancel before
execution, so he could sell 10 contracts at a above-market price and then purchase them
immediately thereafter for a lower price, in order to obtain a profit of appfoximately $60
in less than a second;

In violation of Title 7, United States Code, Sections 6c(a)(5)(C) and 13(a)(2).

17
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COUNT ELEVEN
(Spoofing)

 The SPECIAL SEPTEMBER 2014 GRAND JURY further charges:

| 1. Paragraphl of Count One of mis indictment is iricdrporated here.

| 2 .- On or -abd.ut September 23, 2011, at abpid%i‘rﬁétél_y_ 8:3’3 a.m., at AurOra,'}n
.the Northe.rn Distr-‘ic.:'t of Illiﬁois', Eastern Di.vi;i.on., .and ‘.el'se“;hei‘e, .. - | |

I

'~ defendant herein, knowingly engaged in -ttading, practice, and conduct, on and subject to.
the rules of CME Group markets, that Was,_ was of the character of, and was commonly
. known to the trade as, “spooﬁng,”.by causing to be transmitted to a CME Group server
Pounds FX currency futures cc;ntract orders that he intended to cancel before execution,
so he could purchase 18 contracts at a below-market price and then sell them immediately
thereafter for a higher price, in order to obtain a profit of approximately $112.50 in less
than a second;

In violation of Title 7, United States Code, Sections 6c(a)(5)(C) and 13(a)(2).

18
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- COUNT TWELVE
(Spoofing)

The SPECIAL SEPTEMBER 2014 GRAND ﬁJRY ﬁ;ﬁher chafges: |
1. i)ara;graph 1 of Count Oﬁé of this indici:ment is incorp_loratedhere.
_ 2 | On or .giaout Sept.emb'er 28,_'2-0.1 1, ét qpprokirﬂat_e}y 11:26 aA.m.-‘, at Au.1.'o-r'f1, m
the Nprthgrn Distript of Illineis, Eastern Division, and elsewhere, |

MICHAEL COSCIA,

defendant hetein, knowingly erigaged in tra‘ding, practice, and conduci, on and ,subj:c(:t to- - -

the rules of CME Group markets, that was, was of the character of, and was commonly
known to the trade as, “spooﬁng,” by causing to be traﬁsmitted to a. CME Group servér,
high-grade copper commodity futures contract orders that he intended to cancel before
execution, so he could sell five contracts at a above-market price and then purchase them
immediately thereafter for a lower price, in order to obtain a profit of approximately
$62.50 in leés than a second; |

In violation of Title 7, United States Code, Sections 6¢c(a)(5)(C) and 13(a)(2).

A TRUE BILL:

FOREPERSON

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
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